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HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION 

NOVEMBER 19, 2018 

DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION PERMITS 

HDP-2018-0567 

2309 QUARRY ROAD 

 

PROPOSAL 

Demolish a ca. 1941 house. 

 

ARCHITECTURE 

Two-story, rectangular-plan, side-gabled masonry house with Colonial Revival design 

elements, particularly in the symmetry of the façade and use of single and paired 6:6 

fenestration, typical of Colonial Revival houses.  The house also has a prominent front 

gablet in the center of the roof containing louvers for attic ventilation; a partial-width, flat-

roofed, independent porch on round posts; standing seam metal roof. 

RESEARCH 

The house was built by local builder and developer Mack Flournoy for John D. Simpson, Jr., 

and his wife, Mary who moved into the house in 1941.  John D. Simpson, Jr. was the manager 

of Heep Superior Dairies, and later became the president of Superior Dairies while living in 

this house.  He was also very active in the civic life of Austin, and devoted much of his time 

to work with the Chamber of Commerce, the United Fund, and the Aqua Festival. 

Simpson and his family moved out of this house around 1961; William C. James, a salesman 

for the Austin White Lime Company, moved in, and lived here with his family until around 

1967.  William C. James was a native Austinite, and the son of an early 20th century men’s 

clothing retailer downtown. 

Since 1967, the house has seen a number of occupants, including a curate at St. David’s 

Episcopal Church, an oil operator, and an attorney. 

STAFF COMMENTS 

The house is beyond the bounds of any City survey to date. 

Staff has evaluated this house for designation as a historic landmark and has determined 

that the house may meet the criteria for landmark designation as set forth in City Code: 

a. Architecture. The house is an imposing example of Colonial Revival 

architecture with its symmetrical composition and use of 6:6 windows in both 

a single and paired configuration.  However, it does appear that the windows, 

at least on the ground floor, have been replaced with aluminum windows. 

b. Historical association. The house was the long-time home of the president of 

one of the largest agricultural businesses in Austin, Superior Dairies; he was 

also very prominent in civic and philanthropic activities in Austin while living 

here.  The house may have significant historical associations with John D. 

Simpson, Jr. 

c. Archaeology. The house was not evaluated for its potential to yield significant 

data concerning the human history or prehistory of the region. 

d. Community value. The house does not possess a unique location, physical 

characteristic, or significant feature that contributes to the character, image, 

or cultural identity of the city, the neighborhood, or a particular demographic 

group. 

e. Landscape feature. The property is not a significant natural or designed 

landscape with artistic, aesthetic, cultural, or historical value to the city. 
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STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Encourage rehabilitation and adaptive re-use, or postpone to December 17, 2018 to fully 

evaluate alternatives to demolition.  If the Commission votes to release the demolition 

permit, then staff recommends the completion of a City of Austin Documentation Package, 

consisting of photographs of all elevations, a dimensioned sketch plan, and a narrative 

history, for archiving at the Austin History Center. 
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LOCATION MAP 
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2309 Quarry Road 
ca. 1941 

 
 

OCCUPANCY HISTORY 
2309 Quarry Road 

 
City Directory Research, Austin History Center 
By City Historic Preservation Office 
November, 2018 
 
1992  Timothy J. Herman, owner 
  No occupation listed 
 
1985-86 Timothy J. and Mary Herman, owners 
  Lawyer, 200 E. 10th Street. 
 
1981  Timothy J. Herman, owner 
  No occupation listed 
 
1977  Charles E., Jr. and Betsy Graham, owners 
  Oil operator 
 
1973  Charles E., Jr. and Betsy Graham, owners 
  Oil operator 
 
1968  Rev. Charles H. and Carolyn J. Huffman, owners 
  Curate, St. David’s Episcopal Church, 304 E. 7th Street. 
 
1965  William C. and Mary F. James, owners 

Sales representative, Austin White Lime Company, McNeil, Texas, 
“manufacturers of high calcium chemical agricultural and building lime.” 
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1962  William C. and Mary F. James, owners 

Sales representative, Austin White Lime Company, McNeil, Texas, 
“manufacturers of high calcium chemical agricultural and building lime.” 
NOTE:  John D., Jr. and Mary L. Simpson are listed at 3405 Mountain Top Circle; 
he was the president of Superior Dairies, 600 E. 1st Street. 

 
1959  John D., Jr. and Mary L. Simpson, owners 
  President, Superior Dairies, 600 E. 1st Street. 

NOTE:  W.C. James is listed at 7304 Grover Avenue.  He was a salesman for 
Austin White Lime and had no spouse listed with him. 

 
1955  John D., Jr. and Mary L. Simpson, owners 
  President, Superior Dairies, 600 E. 1st Street. 
 
1952  John D., Jr. and Mary L. Simpson, owners 
  President, Superior Dairies, 600 E. 1st Street. 
 
1949 John D., Jr. and Mary Simpson, owners 
 Vice-president, Superior Dairies, 600 E. 1st Street. 
 
1947 John D., Jr. and Mary Simpson, owners 
 General manager, Lockhart Creamery/Lockhart Dairy Stores (multiple locations) 
 
1944-45 John D., Jr. and Mary Simpson, owners 
 General manager, Heep Superior Dairies, 3500 Guadalupe Street. 
 
1942 John D., Jr. and Mary L. Simpson, owners 
 Manager, Heep Superior Dairies, 3500 Guadalupe Street. 
 
1941 The address is not listed in the directory. 
 NOTE:  John D., Jr. and Mary L. Simpson are not listed in the directory. 
 
BIOGRAPHICAL NOTES: 
John D., Jr. and Mary L. Simpson (ca. 1941 – ca. 1961) 
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Reuben’s Half Acre column on John D. Simpson, Jr. being named president of Superior Dairies 

Austin Statesman, May 24, 1951 
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News story on John D. Simpson, Jr. being nominated as Austin’s Most Worthy Citizen 

Austin Statesman, December 9, 1953 
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News story referencing John D. Simpson, Jr. as the president of Superior Dairies 

Austin American-Statesman, April 11, 1954 
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News story on John D. Simpson as president of the Austin United Fund 

Austin Statesman, January 10, 1956 
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News story on Superior Dairies, referencing John D. Simpson, Jr. as president 

Austin American-Statesman, May 31, 1959 
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Obituary of John D. Simpson, Jr. 

Austin American-Statesman, January 8, 1987 
 
 

William C. and Mary F. James (ca. 1961 – ca. 1967) 
William C. James appears in the 1930 U.S. Census as the 20-year old son of Judson S. and 
Constance James, who owned their home worth $12,500 at 814 W. 6th Street in Austin.  William 
C. James was born in Texas and had no occupation listed.  His father was a men’s clothing 
merchant. 
 
The 1940 U.S. Census shows William James, 30, as a lime salesman living at his parents’ house 
on W. 6th Street.  He was single. 
 
His 1940 World War II draft registration card shows that William Cook James was born in Austin 
in 1916 and was employed by the Austin White Lime Company.  He had a ruddy complexion, blue 
eyes, and brown hair, and stood 5’-10” tall. 
 
William Cook James married Mary Frances Cunningham June 25, 1960 in Harris County, Texas. 
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Mary F. James was born in 1919 and died December 4, 1992.  Both she and William, who died 
in 1985 are buried in Assumption Cemetery, Austin. 
 
 

 
Building permit to John D. Simpson, Jr. for the construction of this house (1941) 

 
 

 
Water service permit to Mack Flournoy for this house (1941) 
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Sewer connection application to Mack Flournoy for this house (1941) 
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Building permit to William C. james for an addition (1961) 

 

 
Building permit to Rev. Charles Huffman for an addition (1968) 

 
City records indicate a permit to demolish the detached garage in 2000. 

 

 


